**MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT
MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS**

NO. 2008-KA-01621-COA

VANESSA FRANCES DECKER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. THE GRAND JURY INDICTED APPELLANT FOR EXPLOITING HER MOTHER BY OBTAINING MONEY FROM HER WITHOUT HER CONSENT AND USING THE MONEY FOR HER OWN USE. THE JURORS WERE INSTRUCTED THAT THEY COULD FIND APPELLANT GUILTY IF THEY FOUND THAT SHE OBTAINED THE MONEY WITH OR WITHOUT HER MOTHER'S CONSENT. APPELLANT WAS, THEREFORE, DENIED SUFFICIENT NOTICE TO PREPARE A DEFENSE IN VIOLATION OF UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AMENDMENTS SIX AND FOURTEEN, AND MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE 3, § 26.
2. THE PORTION OF MISS CODE ANN. § 43-47-5(i) WHICH DEFINES EXPLOITATION AS THE "*ILLEGAL OR IMPROPER USE OF A VULNERABLE ADULT OR HIS RESOURCES FOR ANOTHER'S PROFIT*" IS SO VAGUE, INDEFINITE AND UNCERTAIN THAT IT FAILS TO GIVE NOTICE OF THE CRIMES OR UNLAWFUL ACTS THAT IT PURPORTS TO PROHIBIT. APPELLANT'S CONVICTION WAS, THEREFORE, OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF HER RIGHT TO NOTICE OF THE NATURE OF THE CHARGE, AS GUARANTEED BY THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AMENDMENTS SIX AND FOURTEEN.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Vanessa Francis Decker was indicted on four counts of exploitation of a vulnerable adult by a Clay County, Mississippi Grand Jury on October 3, 2007. R. 10-12. The indictment was amended on July 23, 2008, and Count I was dismissed. R. 113-16.

Appellant was tried on July 23, 2008.

The jury found Appellant not guilty on Counts II and III and guilty on Count IV. R. 97-99. Count IV, on which Appellant Decker was convicted, states that Appellant used \$4,120.00 of her Mother's money "without her consent," at a time when her mother was a vulnerable adult between December 5, 2006 and April 5, 2007. Count IV referenced the time period when Appellant was away from her mother, caring for her son who had shot himself in the face in a suicide attempt. R. 95; T. 206-07.

Appellant's post-trial motion for a directed verdict of not guilty or a new trial was filed on July 28, 2008. R. 100-102.¹ It was denied on August 25, 2008. R. 129.

On September 23, 2008, Appellant timely filed her notice of appeal. R. 131.

¹Appellant has filed a Motion to Supplement Record on Appeal to include page two of the post-trial motion which, to date, has not been ruled on. See Record Excerpt No. 10.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The investigation began when Ms. Morris' daughter, Ella Weese Langford, and her granddaughter, Janice Renee Nevels, complained to the Attorney General's office.

T. 131. Ms. Morris had lived with Appellant in 2005, 2006 and the beginning of 2007. T. 138. Ms. Morris was living with Appellant because Ms. Morris had memory loss and could not provide for her own needs. T. 139.

The gist of the State's evidence was numerous checks Appellant had written on her mother's checking account between December 2005 and February 2007. State Exhibits 2, 3 and 4. The total amount of these checks was \$10,225.02. T. 193-94, and the amount of checks written on Count IV, for which Appellant was convicted, was \$4,120.00.

Ms. Norris lived with Appellant's sister, Ella Weese Langford, from January until April 2004. T. 173. However, Ms. Langford decided she did not want her mother living with her because she "couldn't keep her mouth shut" concerning (Ms. Langford's) use of her mother's money. T. 174-75. Langford packed her mother's clothes and put them in the driveway and called Appellant to pick up their mother. T. 256.

Appellant's sister, Shirley Doss, testified that her mother went to live with Appellant because she was not "able to stay by herself anymore." T. 200. Ms. Doss

did not know how Appellant spent her mother's money but she knew that "she was told by mother that she [Appellant] could use it for whatever she needed, you know, for the house or whatever." T. 201. When Ms. Doss took her mother to the beauty shop to get her hair fixed, Appellant would give her a check to pay for it and when she took her mother to lunch, Appellant would give her a check to pay for it. T. 204.

Ms. Doss testified that Appellant and her mother "had a very close relationship, about as close as any daughter and mother could be." T. 205. Ms. Doss testified that she had heard her mother "tell me many times for years that she wanted her baby [Appellant] to take care of her when she got to where she couldn't take care of herself. And she wanted her to have her money for whatever she needed." T. 205.

When asked why her mother finally left Appellant's home and care, Ms. Doss explained:

Vanessa's [Appellant's] son had shot himself and she brought mother to me. . . . I was really sick, and I knew Fran (Appellant) was really bad – upset because Isaac shot himself. And she brought mother to me and asked me if I would take care of her. . . . But I wasn't able to take care of mother, and I called my daughter. And I told her. I said, baby, you got to come home and you got to help mother with my mother. I said, because I can't do nothing for her. I said I can't get up and down and wait on her like I need to. I said because I can't hardly get up myself. And so my daughter, she come down.

T. 206-07.

Ms. Doss' daughter ended up taking her to the hospital and Appellant's mother

to her sister, Ella Weese's home. T. 208. It was this time period, while Appellant was away from her mother and with her son in the hospital, for which Appellant was convicted on Count IV. T. 206-07.

Appellant's brother, Jimmy Norris, testified that Appellant would have not been able to take care of her mother during this time because of her son's horrendous physical condition from the gunshot wound to his face, and he needed her care. Mr. Norris testified that his mother loved her grandchildren, and that she would want her severely injured grandson taken care of. T. 217-18.

Appellant's sister, Marilyn Janice Henley, testified that her mother always wanted Appellant to take care of her when she got old. T. 253-54. She had a terrible fear of being put in a nursing home. T. 257-58.

When asked about what kind of feelings her mother had for Appellant's injured son Isaac, Ms. Henley testified that her mother loved Isaac and was always asking about him and Appellant while they were at the hospital in Texas. T. 258. She recalled her mother telling Appellant on the telephone that "if you need a check for anything, you write it." T. 259.

Appellant's son, Cleon Glenn Smith, testified that he and his step-dad built a 14 x 12 room with a bathroom onto Appellant's house for her mother to live in. He testified that his step-dad paid for it with his credit card and that it cost about

\$11,000.00 or \$12,000.00. They never did charge Appellant's mother for any of the work they did. T. 275-76.

Appellant's cousin, Frances Garnett, testified that she often saw Appellant and her mother after she started living with Appellant and that they had a good relationship. T. 281-84. Ms. Garnett testified that Ms. Norris had a good relationship with all of her children, except that Ella Weese was always complaining about what her mother was doing for Appellant. She explained: "Every time I met her in town anywhere, she was complaining about what her mother and what Vanessa were doing with - - Aunt Nannie Mae always wanted to give Vanessa - - inherit half what she had and help Vanessa out because she had the four children." T. 284-85.

Appellant's 12 year-old daughter, Macy Decker, testified that she and her sister and brother had a very close relationship with her grandmother and that her mother treated her mother "like a daughter is supposed to treat her mother." T. 288-89.

Ms. Norris had a checking account with BancorpSouth in West Point, Mississippi, and her income came from Social Security benefits of about \$940.00 a month. T. 140, 182. Appellant had an agreement with the bank where she could cash her mother's checks and draw on her mother's checking account. T. 194; Defendant's Exhibit 1.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether the trial court infringed upon the Sixth Amendment right to notice of the nature of the charge is a legal question.

Whether Mississippi Code Ann. § 43-47-5(i) is so vague that it fails to give notice of the crimes it purports to prohibit is a legal question.

Legal questions are reviewed *de novo*. *Sanders v. Chamblee*, 819 So.2d 1275, 1277 (Miss. 2002); *Roberts v. New Albany Separate School District*, 813 So.2d 729, 730-31 (Miss. 2002); and *Plummer v. State*, 966 So.2d 186, 189 (Miss. App. 2007).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The indictment charged that Appellant used her mother's money without her consent. The defense prepared for trial accordingly and offered several witnesses who testified that Appellant's mother wanted Appellant to use her money the way she did. However, on the first day of the trial, the State made it known that it believed it did not matter whether Appellant's mother consented because the statute says, "with or without the consent." Over objection, the trial court's instructions allowed the jury to find Appellant guilty even though her mother did consent to Appellant's use of her money. This violated Appellant's fundamental constitutional rights under the Sixth Amendment right to know the nature of the charge against her.

The Statute under which Appellant was convicted is unconstitutionally vague,

since it allows conviction upon a finding that a defendant's conduct was "illegal" or "improper." This also violates Appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments' right to know the nature of the charge against her.

ARGUMENT I.

THE GRAND JURY INDICTED APPELLANT FOR EXPLOITING HER MOTHER BY OBTAINING MONEY FROM HER WITHOUT HER CONSENT AND USING THE MONEY FOR HER OWN USE. THE JURORS WERE INSTRUCTED THAT THEY COULD FIND APPELLANT GUILTY IF THEY FOUND THAT SHE OBTAINED THE MONEY WITH OR WITHOUT HER MOTHER'S CONSENT. APPELLANT WAS, THEREFORE, DENIED SUFFICIENT NOTICE TO PREPARE A DEFENSE IN VIOLATION OF UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AMENDMENTS SIX AND FOURTEEN, AND MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE 3, § 26.

The United States Supreme Court has held that "[n]o principle of procedural due process is more clearly established than that *notice of the specific charge*, and a chance to be heard in a trial of the issues raised by that charge . . . are among the constitutional rights of every accused in a criminal proceeding in all courts, state or federal." *Cole v. Arkansas*, 333 U.S. 196, 201 (1948) (emphasis added).

The primary purpose of an indictment is to provide the defendant with a concise statement of the crime so that he may have a reasonable opportunity to prepare and present a defense to those charges. *Burrows v. State*, 961 So.2d 701, 705 (Miss. 2007). The prosecution is held strictly to prove the allegations of the

indictment and may not vary from the proof of those allegations unless the variance is a lesser-included-offense. *Rushing v. State*, 753 So.2d 1136, 1146 (Miss. App. 2000). “Not every variance between the language of the indictment and the proof is material.” *Burks v. State*, 770 So.2d 960, 963 (Miss. 2000). However, “[a] variance is material if it affects the substantive rights of the defendant.” *Burks*, 770 So.2d at 963. In *State v. Berryhill*, 703 So.2d 250 (Miss.1997), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that “different theories [of the crime charged] would plainly invite different defenses. An indictment is defective if it does not give enough notice for a defendant to prepare a defense.” 703 So.2d at 256.

The United States Supreme Court has held that “a court cannot permit a defendant to be tried on charges that are not made in the indictment against him,” and that “after an indictment has been returned its charges may not be broadened through amendment except by the grand jury itself.” *Stirone v. United States*, 361 U.S. 212, 215-17 (1960). In *Stirone*, the offense proved at trial was not fully contained in the indictment. The trial evidence had amended the indictment by broadening the possible bases for conviction from that which appeared in the indictment and the district judge gave instructions which allowed the jury to find the defendant guilty of an offense that was not fully charged in the indictment. The Supreme Court found that “[a]lthough the trial court did not permit a formal amendment of the indictment,

the effect of what it did was the same” and held that the district judge committed error in allowing this broadening of the basis on which Stirone could be convicted. 361 U.S. at 217. See also, *Jenkins v. McKeithen*, 395 U.S. 411, 430 (1969) (plurality opinion) (the “grand jury is designed to interpose an independent body of citizens between the accused and the prosecuting attorney and the court”).

The Fifth Circuit recently noted that “[a] constructive amendment of the indictment occurs when the jury is permitted to convict the defendant upon a factual basis that effectively modifies an essential element of the offense charged. In such cases, reversal is automatic, because the defendant may have been convicted on a ground not charged in the indictment.” *U.S. v. Adams*, 314 Fed.Appx. 633, 643 n.33 (5th Cir. 2009), quoting *United States v. Adams*, 778 F.2d 1117, 1123 (5th Cir.1985).

Count IV charged that Vanessa Francis Decker:

on and between December 5, 2006 and April 5, 2007, several acts and/or transactions therein being connected and/or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan, within the jurisdiction of this Court and legal boundaries of Clay County, Mississippi, did willfully, feloniously, unlawfully, and knowingly exploit Nannie Mae Morris, a vulnerable adult as defined by § 43-47-5 (n) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, to wit: by engaging in a continuous plan by which Vanessa Francis Decker wrote checks drawn on the Bancorp South checking account of Nannie Mae Morris (Checking Account Number 54105325), to herself and her husband, Billy E. Decker, or withdrew cash from said account of Nannie Mae Morris while she was not actively in the care of Vanessa Francis Decker, thereby depriving Nannie Mae Morris over \$250.00 of her funds and/or resources with knowledge of Nannie Mae Morris’s inability to perform normal activities of daily living or to

provide for her own care or protection due to mental, emotional, or physical impairment, disability or dysfunction, or due to the infirmities of aging, ***without the consent of Nannie Mae Morris***, thereafter using the currency obtained, \$4,120.00, for her own profit or advantage, contrary to and in violation of § 43-47-19 (1) & (2) (b) of the Mississippi Code of 1972; [emphasis added].

R. 94-95.

Immediately prior to trial, after the jury was sworn, the prosecutor, Ms. Treasure Tyson, brought up a motion *in limine* for hearing, contending that it was irrelevant whether Appellant used some of Ms. Morris' money to help care for her son, Isaac, who had been severely injured and left totally unable to care for himself due to an unsuccessful suicide attempt. The prosecutor stated: "any evidence regarding his attempted suicide or any care for him is irrelevant . . ." Appellant's attorney, Jim Waide, responded:

BY MR. WAIDE: . . . In the first place, this case requires a proof of criminal intent, that she had an intent to steal from her mother. The indictment charges for her personal benefit and use. This is the alleged victim's grandson. It's totally logical that money would be utilized for the care of her grandson.

The indictment charges without consent. There will be evidence in this case that she specifically asked and directed that the money be used for his benefit, for the benefit of her grandson. . . .

BY THE COURT: Well, I'm asked to rule on an evidentiary issue prior to hearing any of the proof of the evidence. It may be proof in evidence as developed that shows that it was with consent. I do not know. I don't know what's going to happen.

BY MS. TYSON: Your Honor, the statute clearly says, with or without the consent of a vulnerable adult.

BY THE COURT: It does say that.

BY MR. WAIDE: Your Honor, if the Court please. It does, but the indictment charges without consent. It would be a fatal variance from the indictment now to start with a new State's theory, they can't bury what they charged in the indictment or what the grand jury has indicted for to change to a different theory to say it's because she's mentally unstable and not without consent.

BY THE COURT: I can see that that issue might have some relevancy during the courts of the trial. I am not going to rule on the motion in limine at this time. . . .

T. 118-19.

In moving for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the State's case, Appellant's attorney argued that:

BY MR. WAIDE: . . . Two, the indictment - - according to the indictment, the grand jury indicted for utilizing money without the grandmother's consent. Any guilty verdict, if Your Honor were to allow them to amend the indictment, and I question whether the court has that authority, would have to be contrary to the grand jury indictment. That's the only thing she's been indicted for.

T. 240.

The prosecutor responded:

BY MS. TYSON: Your Honor, the State would object to any directed verdict on the grounds that sufficient evidence has been produced by the State to meet the grounds for the statute. The indictments specifically names the statute. And the statute specifically says exploitation with or without the consent

of the vulnerable adult. Consent of the vulnerable adult is completely irrelevant in this case. Whether or not grandmother wanted the money to be used for her son and for a tragedy is irrelevant. The point is the money was given to her by social security to care for her mother. She didn't care for her.

T. 241.

In ruling on the motion for directed verdict, the trial court stated:

BY THE COURT: . . . The first thing that gave me pause was in courts two, three, and four of the indictment. It is specifically alleged in the indictment that the use of these funds by the defendant was without the consent of the vulnerable adult. That's what it said.

The statute itself when it defines exploitation in 47-7-5 Subsection I states exploitation means the illegal or improper use of a vulnerable adult or his resources for another's profit or advantage with or without the consent of the vulnerable adult. And it even includes acts committed pursuant to a power of attorney.

At one time in our law I was confident that what was alleged in the indictment must be proved as alleged. It must be proved that it was without consent. In this case, if I go by that standard.

However, there are a number of cases in our criminal law that have come down in not so recent years but in the last decade that says that even if you allege it in the indictment, it doesn't matter if the statute says otherwise, you can just sort of shotgun it. And that's the expression that we use to use as a shotgun type indictment or statute.

The statute clearly defines exploitation. And that's what is charged here is as pecuniary exploitation. So the first issue that I'm faced with on your motion, Mr. Waide is that even though the indictment on those three counts say that it was without the concept [sic] of the vulnerable adult, that is, Nannie Mae Morris,

the statutory definition says that it could be either with or without consent.

So I do by find that the statute would control even though the indictment alleges otherwise. And the exploitation of the resources, it doesn't matter whether it's with or without consent. And that is mere surplusage in the indictment. So, I would overrule the motion for directed verdict on that issue on that ground.

T. 244-46.

Appellant's counsel renewed his motion for directed verdict once the State and defense rested, saying, "May it please the Court. The defense renews the motion for directed verdict on all the grounds at the close of the State's proof, including the following that the evidence is insufficient as a matter of law to prove guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." T. 292. The trial court stated that its "ruling is the same and the renewed motion is overruled." *Id.*

The trial court gave three instructions to the jury that were substantially the same, S-1, S-2 and S-3. R. 67-69. The only difference involved the dates and amounts of money involved. Jury instruction number S-1 stated:

The court instructs the jury that the defendant has been charged in the Indictment with the crime of exploitation of a vulnerable adult. For you to find her guilty of exploitation of a vulnerable adult, you must believe from all the evidence in this case beyond a reasonable doubt that:

1. Vanessa Decker, on and between the 15th day of November, 2005 and the 5th day of November, 2006 in Clay County;
2. Did willfully and without lawful authority;

3. Exploit Nannie Morris, a vulnerable adult;
4. By illegally or improperly;
5. Using Nannie Morris, or her resources, in the amount of \$4,556.00;
6. For her own profit or advantage;
7. Regardless of whether it was done with, or without, the consent of Nannie Morris.

If you find that the State has proven all of the above elements beyond a reasonable doubt, then you shall find the defendant not guilty as charged in Count II of the Indictment.

R. 67.

Appellant's counsel objected to this instruction as follows:

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