IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VANESSA FRANCES DECKER

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1621

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING A CONSTRUCTIVE AMENDMENT OF THE INDICTMENT.
- II. THE APPELLANT FAILED TO ESTABLISH BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED §43-47-19 IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant, Vanessa Frances Decker, was convicted of exploitation of a vulnerable adult pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated §43-47-19 for writing checks to herself and her husband from a checking account set up for her mother, Nannie Mae Morris. The Appellant was initially charged with four counts of violating this statute. However, the first count was voluntarily dismissed by the State and the jury found her not guilty on two of the three remaining counts as the checks written with regard to those counts were written during a time when the Appellant was actually

caring for her mother. The checks written with regard to the count for which the Appellant was convicted were written during a time a when Ms. Morris was living with the Appellant's sister and during which the Appellant was providing no care whatsoever for her mother. As a result of this conviction, the Appellant was sentenced to a four year suspended sentence, restitution, and a fine.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in allowing a constructive amendment of the indictment. The constructive amendment did not substantially alter the elements of proof necessary to establish that the Appellant exploited a vulnerable adult. Consent is a non-element and the jury instruction in question properly narrowed the issue for the jury. Furthermore, the constructive amendment did not deprive the Appellant of a valid defense; thus, she was not prejudiced by the amendment.

The Appellant failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Mississippi Code Annotated §43-47-19 is unconstitutionally vague. She was unable to overcome the strong presumption of validity of the statute. Moreover, the Mississippi Supreme Court has previously held that the statute was not unconstitutionally vague and ambiguous.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING A CONSTRUCTIVE AMENDMENT OF THE INDICTMENT.

The Appellant first argues that she was "denied sufficient notice to prepare a defense" because the jury instructions "broadened the basis on which [she] could be convicted." (Appellant's Brief p. 7 and 17). In essence, the Appellant is arguing that the jury instructions given at trial constructively amended the indictment. This Court noted in *Harris v. State*, that "it is not error for jury instructions to reflect a constructive amendment to an indictment." 830 So.2d 681, 684 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "the central question is

whether the variance is such as to <u>substantially alter the elements of proof necessary</u> for a conviction." *Bell v. State*, 725 So.2d 836, 855 (Miss. 1998) (*emphasis added*). In this regard, the Supreme Court set forth the following guidelines:

It is well settled in this state that a change in the indictment is permissible if it does not materially alter facts which are the essence of the offense on the face of the indictment as it originally stood or materially alter a defense to the indictment as it originally stood so as to prejudice the defendant's case. (citations omitted). The test for whether an amendment to the indictment will prejudice the defense is whether the defense as it originally stood would be equally available after the amendment is made. (citations omitted).

Spann v. State, 771 So.2d 883, 898 (Miss. 2000) (emphasis added).

In the case at hand, the instructions DID NOT SUBSTANTIALLY ALTER THE ELEMENTS OF PROOF NECESSARY for a conviction of exploitation of a vulnerable adult. The indictment charged, in pertinent part, that the Appellant exploited her mother, a vulnerable adult, by writing checks from her mother's account "without the consent" of her mother for her own profit. (Record p. 11 and 95). The jury instruction with regard to that count read as follows:

... For you to find her guilty of exploitation of a vulnerable adult, you must believe from all the evidence in this case beyond a reasonable doubt that:

- 1. Vanessa Decker, on and between the 5th day of December, 2006 and the 5th day of April, 2007 in Clay County;
- 2. Did willfully and without lawful authority;
- 3 Exploit Nannie Morris, a vulnerable adult;
- 4. By illegally or improperly;
- 5. Using Nannie Morris or her resources, in the amount of \$4,120.00;
- 6. For her own profit or advantage;
- 7. Regardless of whether it was done with, or without, the consent of Nannie Morris.

(Record p. 69) (*emphasis added*). As indicated in the indictment, the Appellant was charged under Mississippi Code Annotated §43-47-19 which makes it illegal "to abuse, neglect, or exploit a vulnerable adult." The definition of "exploit" as it is used in this statute is set forth in Mississippi

Code Annotated §43-47-6(i) as follows: "the illegal or improper use of a vulnerable adult or his resources for another's profit or advantage, with or without the consent of the vulnerable adult, and includes acts committed pursuant to a power of attorney." (emphasis added). Thus, in order to convict the Appellant under this statute, the State had to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that:

- 1) the victim was a vulnerable adult as defined by §43-47-6(n); and
- 2) the Appellant illegally and improperly used the victim's resources for her own profit.

"With or without the consent of the vulnerable adult" is a non-element as nothing had to be proved to establish that the Appellant either acted with her mother's consent or without it. In other words, the State did not have to prove anything with regard to consent under the statute. Thus, the instructions did not substantially alter the proof necessary for a conviction under the statute.

Consent in this statute is similar to consent with regard to sexual crimes where the victim is a child in the sense that the law deems a person under a certain age incapable of consenting just as the law deems a vulnerable adult incapable of consenting. For example, in *Cantrell v. State*, the defendant was convicted of violating Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-95(c) (Supp. 1986) which forbade the sexual penetration of a child under the age of twelve. 507 So.2d 325 (Miss. 1987). The indictment in *Cantrell* charged that the defendant acted "with force;" however, the jury was instructed that they "should not consider 'consent' or 'force' to be a necessary element of the crime as charged." *Id.* at 330. The defendant argued on appeal that the instruction clashed with the indictment. *Id.* The Mississippi Supreme Court held as follows:

We hold that the instruction properly narrowed the issue for the jury. The state was not required to prove force under §97-3-95(c) (Supp. 1986) of a child under 12 which clearly was the provision under which Cantrell was indicted. Thus, the instruction only had the effect of eliminating the "with force" language from the jury's consideration. There was no indication that the jury was given a copy of the indictment, and thus any possible confusion was eliminated.

Id. (*emphasis added*). As in *Cantrell*, the instruction at issue in this case properly narrowed the issue for the jury.

A similar issue regarding "consent" was addressed in *Lee v. State*, 944 So.2d 56 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). In this case, the defendant was convicted of two counts of statutory rape, four counts of sexual battery, and three counts of gratification of lust. *Id.* at 59. He argued on appeal that the trial court erred in allowing the State to amend the indictment to remove the words "without her consent" with regard to the sexual battery charges under §97-3-95(1)(d). *Id.* at 61. This Court held that:

Lack of consent is not an element of this variety of sexual battery. A child under the age of fourteen has no legal ability to consent to such an act. In this context, the language "without her consent" had no legal meaning. Its removal did not deprive Lee of a valid defense. It follows that the trial court had the power to remove the language "without her consent," which was not an element of the offense charged and which purported to give the defendant a basis for a non-existent defense. Furthermore, in each count of the indictment, the exact code section and subsection was noted. Thus, the indictment clearly notified [the defendant] that he was charged with sexual battery as defined by Mississippi Code Annotated Section 97-3-95(1)(d) (Rev. 2000). Upon review, we find that Lee was not prejudiced by the amendment. Therefore, the trial court did not err in allowing the State to amend the indictment.

Id. In the case at hand, just as in Lee, "without her consent" has no legal meaning as a vulnerable adult has no legal ability to consent. The constructive removal of these words from the indictment did not deprive the Appellant of a VALID defense. Requiring "without her consent" to be in the jury instruction would have, as set forth above by this Court in Lee, given the Appellant "a basis for a non-existent defense." The Mississippi Supreme Court granted certiorari and "agreed with the

Section 97-95(1)(d) states that "a person is guilty of sexual battery if he or she engages in sexual penetration with a child under the age of fourteen (14) years of age, if the person is twenty-four (24) or more months older than the child.

²Additionally, the indictment in the case at hand, like that in *Lee*, contained a reference to the statute under which the Appellant was being charged and contained sufficient information to notify the Appellant of the charges in which she was facing.

Court of Appeal's disposition of this case." *Lee v. State*, 944 So.2d 35 (Miss. 2006). In so holding the Supreme Court noted that "our precedent establishes that 'surplusage' in an indictment may be removed without prejudice to the defendant." *Id.* at 38. It also noted its previous holding in *Richmond v. State*, 751 So.2d 1038 (Miss. 1999) in which it held that the State was required to prove an unnecessary element alleged in the indictment and clarified that holding "so that it [would not be] misread as inconsistent" with the Court's precedent concerning amendments to indictments to remove surplusage. *Id.* In so doing, the Court held that "the trial court in *Richmond* would have committed no abuse of discretion had it found that the language related to value was mere surplusage and allowed the State to amend the indictment by removing the language." *Id.* at 39.³ Accordingly, the trial court in the case at hand did not abuse its discretion in constructively amending the indictment to remove the surplusage.

As such, the constructive amendment of the indictment by the jury instruction was not improper as it did not did not substantially alter the elements of proof necessary for a conviction of exploitation of a vulnerable adult. Moreover, the Appellant was not prejudiced by the amendment.

II. THE APPELLANT FAILED TO ESTABLISH BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED §43-47-19 IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

The Appellant also argues that Mississippi Code Annotated §43-47-19 is unconstitutionally vague as the definition given in §43-47-6(i) for the term "exploitation" is "so vague, indefinite, and uncertain that it fails to give notice of the crimes or unlawful acts that it purports to prohibit." (Appellant's Brief p. 18 - 19). Section §43-47-19 reads in pertinent part as follows:

³ The State recognizes that the *Lee* Court held that the *Richmond* case does hold that the State must prove all the facts charged in the indictment where the surplusage is not removed. *Id.* However, it is the State's position that the surplusage in the indictment at issue here was removed constructively via the jury instruction. Had this jury instruction not been given the State would have had to prove that the Appellant acted without her mother's consent.

- (1) It shall be unlawful for any person to abuse, neglect, or exploit any vulnerable adult.
- $(2) \dots$
- (b) Any person who willfully exploits a vulnerable adult, where the value of the exploitation is less than Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$250.00), shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine not to exceed Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) or by imprisonment not to exceed one (1) year in the county jail, or by both such fine and imprisonment; where the value of the exploitation is Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$250.00) or more, the person who exploits a vulnerable adult shall be guilty of a felony and upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by imprisonment in the custody of the Department of Corrections for not more than ten (10) years.

"Exploitation" is defined by §43-47-6(i) as "the illegal or improper use of a vulnerable adult or his resources for another's profit or advantage, with or without the consent of the vulnerable adult, and includes acts committed pursuant to a power of attorney."

The Mississippi Supreme Court has set forth "the standard for determining the constitutionality of a statutes" as follows:

A party challenging the constitutionality of a statute <u>must prove his case by showing</u> the unconstitutionality of the statute beyond a reasonable doubt. Vance v. Lincoln County Dep't of Pub. Welfare, 582 So.2d 414, 419 (Miss.1991). 'This Court will strike down a statute on constitutional grounds only where it appears beyond all reasonable doubt that such statute violates the constitution.' Wells v. Panola County Bd. of Educ., 645 So.2d 883, 888 (Miss.1994). We adhere to the rule that one who assails a legislative enactment must overcome the strong presumption of validity and such assailant must prove his conclusion affirmatively, and clearly establish it beyond a reasonable doubt. All doubts must be resolved in favor of the validity of a statute. If possible, courts should construe statutes so as to render them constitutional rather than unconstitutional if the statute under attack does not clearly and apparently conflict with organic law after first resolving all doubts in favor of validity. Loden v. Mississippi Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 279 So.2d 636, 640 (Miss.1973) (citations omitted).

Edwards v. State, 800 So.2d 454, 460-61 (Miss. 2001) (quoting Jones v. State, 710 So.2d 870, 877 (Miss. 1998)) (emphasis added). The Edwards Court further noted with regard to criminal statutes:

Although a statute imposing criminal penalties must be strictly construed in favor of the accused, it should not be so strict as to override common sense or statutory purpose. *United States v. Brown*, 333 U.S. 18, 25, 68 S.Ct. 376, 380, 92 L.Ed. 442,

448 (1948); see also State v. Burnham, 546 So.2d 690, 692 (Miss.1989). Strict construction means reasonable construction. State v. Martin, 495 So.2d 501, 502 (Miss.1986). This Court has held that the test concerning statutory construction is whether a person of ordinary intelligence would, by reading the statute, receive fair notice of that which is required or forbidden. Burnham, 546 So.2d at 692; Roberson v. State, 501 So.2d 398, 400 (Miss.1987); Cassibry v. State, 404 So.2d 1360, 1368 (Miss.1981).

Id. at 461 (quoting Reining v. State, 606 So.2d 1098, 1103 (Miss. 1992)) (emphasis added). As such, "a restriction must be reasonably clear, enabling a citizen to understand what is allowed, and what is not." Westbrook v. State, 953 So.2d 286, 289 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting Mayor of Clinton v. Welch, 888 So.2d 416, 420(¶ 21) (Miss.2004)).

The State of Mississippi respectfully contends that Mississippi Code Annotated §43-47-19 and the definition set forth in §43-47-6(i) provide the citizens of Mississippi fair notice of what is forbidden under the statute and therefore, is not unconstitutionally vague. Mississippi Code Annotated §43-47-19 forbids, among other things, a person from illegally or improperly using a vulnerable adult or a vulnerable adult's resources for that person's profit. However, the Appellant argues that the statute "does not give any real notice as to how the terms 'illegal' and 'improper' relate to people who are taking care of their elderly loved ones." (Appellant's brief p. 20). She further argues that "there is no definition of what constitutes 'improper' or 'illegal.'" (Appellant's Brief p. 20). Mississippi Code Annotated §1-3-65 states that "all words and phrases contained in the statutes are used according to their common and ordinary acceptation and meaning." This Court has previously upheld a lower court's decision to use a dictionary "for common usage and terminology" when the legislature did not give a specific definition. Kerr-McGee Chemical Corp. v. Buelow, 670 So.2d 12, 19 (Miss. 1995). Black's Law Dictionary defines "improper" as "not suitable, unfit, not suited to the character, time, and place." Black's Law Dictionary 757 (6th ed. 1990). Black's Law Dictionary defines "illegal" as "against or not authorized by law." Black's Law

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